## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0153

No. DA 24-0153

WILD MONTANA, MONTANA WILDLIFE FEDERATION, AND MONTANA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES,

Petitioners/Plaintiff and Appellees,

v.

GREG GIANFORTE, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF MONTANA; AND CHRISTI JACOBSEN, IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS SECRETARY OF STATE.

Defendants and Appellants.

# APPELLANT SECRETARY OF STATE JACOBSEN'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Montana First Judicial District, Lewis and Clark County, Cause No. DV-25-2023-411, the Honorable Mike Menahan, Presiding

# Appearances:

Austin Markus James

STATEMENT OF FACTS
STANDARD OF REVIEW10
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT11
ARGUMENT12
I. The District Court incorrectly issued a writ of mandamus requiring the Secretary of State to conduct a veto poll for a bill vetoed by the Governor during the 2023 legislative session despite the absence of a clear legal duty in Mont. Const. art. VI, § 10(4)
A. The District Court identified and stated in the Summary Judgment Order and in the lower court proceedings that there was a "procedural gap" in the veto procedures in Article VI, Section 10 of the Montana Constitution and in law that led to this unique situation
B. The District Court erred when it held that this case met the test for a writ of mandamus because there is no clear and prescribed legal duty for the Secretary of State
C. The District Court erred when it found that this case met the test for a writ of mandamus because there are other legal remedies which were more appropriate.
II. The Interest Groups' claims presented nonjusticiable political questions, and the Interest Groups lacked standing to vindicate the Legislature's veto override authority
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE21

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Cases

Allied Waste Servs. of N. Am., LLC v. Mont. Dep't of Pub. Serv. Regulation, 2019 MT 199, 397 Mont. 85, 447 P.3d 463
Beasley v. Flathead Co. Bd. of Adjustments, 2009 MT 120, 350 Mont. 171, 205 P.3d 812. 14
Becky v. Butte-Silver Bow Sch. Dist. No. 1 (1995), 274 Mont. 131, 906 P.2d 193 13, 17
Boehm v. Park Cty., 2018 MT 165, 392 Mont. 72, 421 P.3d 789
Bostwick Properties, Inc. v. Montana Dep't of Nat. Res. & Conservation, 2009 MT 181, 351 Mont. 26, 34, 208 P.3d 868
City of Great Falls v. Bd. of Comm'rs, 2024 MT 118, 416 Mont. 494, 549 P.3d 1158 11
Meagher v. Butte-Silver Bow City-County, 2007 MT 129, 337 Mont. 339, 160 P.3d 552 11
Mont. Indep. Living Project v. Dep't of Transp., 2019 MT 298, 398 Mont. 204, 454 P.3d 1216
Montana Association of Counties v. Gianforte, et al., DV-25-2023-0000413-DK (First Jud. Dist. Ct. filed June 7, 2023)7
Phillips v. City of Livingston, 268 Mont. 156, 885 P.2d 528 (1994)
Smith v. County of Missoula, 1999 MT 330, 297 Mont. 368, 992 P.2d 834 14
Smith v. County of Missoula, 297 Mont. 368 (1999)
State ex rel. Popham v. Hamilton City Council, 185 Mont. 26, 604 P.2d 312 (1979) 18
State ex rel. Thomas v. District Court of Seventeenth Judicial Dist. In and For Valley County, 224 Mont. 441, 731 P.2d 324 (1986)
State ex rel. Thompson v. Babcock, 147 Mont. 46, 409 P.2d 808 (1966)
Statutes
Mont. Code Ann. § 27–26–10213, 17
Mont. Code Ann. § 5-3-106
Mont. Code. Ann. § 5-4-306passim

# Other Authorities

Act of January 2, 1869, LM, 5 Session (1868-69)
Agenda: Messages from the Governor, House Floor Session
Clark C. Spence, Territorial Politics and Government in Montana 1864-89 (1975)4
Ellis Waldron, Montana Politics, (1958)
House Journal, 4 Session (1867)
Larry Barsness, Gold Camp, (1962)
Maddison Seipp, NonStop Local, Montana Senate claims action made by Montana Supreme Court is unconstitutional on Senate Bill 44 (March 18, 2024)6
Montana Constitutional Amendment XII, Voter Information Pamphlet (1982)5
Montana Constitutional Convention, Committee Proposals, February 17, 19724
Montana Constitutional Convention, Verbatim Transcript, February 25, 19724
Montana Post, November 30, December 7, 1867
Montana Secretary of State, "Secretary Christi Jacobsen releases veto polling results," https://media.sosmt.gov/secretary-christi-jacobsen-releases-veto-polling-results/#:~:text=HELENA,%20Mont.%20%E2%80%94%20Montana%20Secretary%20of%20State%20Christi%20Jacobsen%20released
Veto Polling Results - Official Montana Secretary of State Website - Christi Jacobsen (sosmt.gov) https://sosmt.gov/elections/veto-polling-results/
Rules
Montana Rules of Appellate Procedure 11
Rules of the Montana Legislature, Senate Rules 50-60
Constitutional Provisions
Mont. Const. art V
Mont. Const. art. VIpassim

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Did the District Court err in holding that the Secretary of State's duties under Article VI, Section 10(4) met the definition of a clear legal duty for purposes of a writ of mandamus when it ordered that even though the Legislature was in session at the time of the Governor's veto, the Secretary was required to conduct a veto override poll?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Montana Constitution and the implementing statutes provide the duties and obligations of the Secretary of State ("Secretary") when it comes to a Governor's veto of a bill passed by the Legislature.¹ If the Governor vetoes a bill while the Legislature is in session, the bill is returned to the Legislature – not the Secretary. Mont. Const. art. VI, § 10(1). If the Governor vetoes a bill when the Legislature is not in session, then the Governor must return to the bill to the Secretary for the Secretary to conduct a veto override poll. Mont. Const. art. VI, § 10(4)(a) ("If the Legislature is not in session when the governor vetoes a bill approved by two-thirds of the members present, he shall return the bill with his reasons therefor to the secretary of state."). Along with the veto provisions as laid out in the Montana Constitution and in the Montana Code, the Legislature maintains the ability to call for a special session to override a veto or to pass the same bill. Mont. Const. art. V § 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mont. Const. art V, Section 1. makes clear that the Legislature consists "of a senate and a house of representatives." (Emphasis added.)

Here, the events center around a veto by the Governor of Senate Bill 442 ("SB 442" or "the bill"), on the final day of the 2023 legislative session. The Governor's veto of SB 442 occurred while the 68<sup>th</sup> Legislature was still in session. *See*, Doc. 45; Pet'r Pet. 2, ¶ 2 ("The Senate voted to adjourn after the Governor had vetoed SB 442…") (emphasis added); Mont. Const. art. VI, § 10 (4)(a).

After certain Interest Groups, namely Wild Montana, Montana Wildlife Federation, and the Montana Association of Counties ("Interest Groups"), lobbied for SB 442 and unsuccessfully demanded that the Secretary conduct a veto override poll in accordance with Article VI, Section 10(4)(a), these Interest Groups filed suit, in the First Judicial District on June 7, 2023, including as part of that suit an Application for Writ of Mandamus. Doc. 1. The Interest Groups' suit dealt with the actions taken by the Montana Legislature, the Governor, and the Secretary of State.

The District Court granted the Interest Groups' Writ of Mandamus on Summary Judgment, while recognizing that the Governor vetoed SB 442 "prior to the Legislature's adjournment." Doc. 45. The District Court held that "[t]he governor and secretary of state's duties under Article VI, Section 10(4) meet the definition of clear legal duties for the purposes of a writ... Petitioners and Plaintiff are entitled to the performance of these legal duties. Therefore, they have met the first requirement for obtaining a writ of mandamus." Doc. 45 at 7-8. The writ also required the "governor must transmit the veto message, and the secretary of state must conduct the override poll in the manner established by Article VI, Section 10(4)." Doc. 45.

The Secretary maintains that the Interest Groups' request to compel the Secretary to perform a legislative poll, an act which the Secretary was unable to perform without certain conditions existing, was inappropriate for mandamus relief because no clear legal duty existed. Importantly, the letter of the Constitution and the rules that implement the Constitution were followed by the Legislative Branch and Chief Executive Branch, including the Secretary, as well as other actors of Government prescribed by law to be involved in the process.

The Secretary has no legal duty to act on a veto poll unless the Legislature is not in session when the governor vetoes the bill, and the bill is returned to the Secretary with the veto message. Mont. Code. Ann. § 5-4-306(2). As a practical matter, the Governor did not return SB 442 to the Secretary. The bill is still in the possession of the Legislature. Letter from Senator Jason Ellsworth to Secretary of State Christi Jacobsen (March 18, 2024).

The Constitution and the code do not provide an action for the Secretary to take when the Secretary is carbon copied to the Governor's veto message returned to the Legislature with the bill while the Legislature is in session. Although courteous, it is not required that the Governor provide the Secretary with a copy of a veto message of a bill returned during the legislative session. The Secretary has as much legal obligation upon receipt as the other carbon copied parties on the veto message for the bill that she did not receive – nothing. The Secretary is limited to what the law allows and mandates.

Additionally, a writ against the Secretary was inappropriate, because even the District Court acknowledged, when considering whether the District Court should grant attorney fees in this case, that this is a "case of first impression" and a "constitutional anomaly." Doc. 72 at 10.

In the end, SB 442 was not the first or the last policy idea that died in the gray area of the rules for majority body votes. When Montana became a territory, law was created by her government according to legislative rules, and lawmakers practiced political gamesmanship alongside of policy making. At the same time, the lawmaking process has improved alongside gamesmanship by state officers in the process to fill some gaps and leave others open.<sup>2</sup> The 1899 statehood constitution incorporated laws that were statutorily adopted to close loopholes in the lawmaking process into the supreme document, as did the "Con-Con" delegates in 1972<sup>3</sup>. Since adopting our constitution 54 years ago, pursuant to Article VI, §10 (4), Montana has adopted and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See generally, Clark C. Spence, Territorial Politics and Government in Montana 1864-89 (1975).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, the "pocket veto" revisions. Montana Constitutional Convention, Committee Proposals, February 17, 1972, p. 451; Montana Constitutional Convention, Verbatim Transcript, February 25, 1972, Volume IV, p. 954.

amended statutes<sup>4</sup> and constitutional amendments<sup>5</sup> to try to prevent exploitation of established norms by the legislative rules adopted by the majority. During each constitutional stage, the Legislature has defined and refined the process implementing the constitutional provision of the day concerning veto power.

Today, the Secretary has no legal duty to issue a veto poll when a bill is vetoed by the Governor during the legislative session. Thus, the writ of mandamus cannot be allowed to stand, because if it does, further loopholes will be created in the legal process and exploited by opportunists in the sausage making that the Secretary of State should not have a hand in.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 1, 2023, the Montana Legislature passed SB 442. Doc. 45 at 3. The next day, on May 2, 2023, SB 442 was enrolled and sent to the Governor. Also on May 2, 2023, which was the 87th and final day of the 2023 legislative session, the Governor vetoed SB 442. Doc. 45 at 3. That afternoon, the Governor transmitted the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mont. Code Ann. § 5-4-306, the statute implementing Article VI, § 10(4), has been amended numerous times dating back to 1895. *See*, En. Sec. 273, Pol. C. 1895; re-en. Sec. 103, Rev. C. 1907; re-en. Sec. 87, R.C.M. 1921; Cal. Pol. C. Sec. 312; re-en. Sec. 87, R.C.M. 1935; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 63, L. 1973; R.C.M. 1947, 43-504; amd. Sec. 7, Ch. 3, L. 1985; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 317, L. 1989; amd. Sec. 2, Ch. 685, L. 1991; amd. Sec. 229, Ch. 61, L. 2007; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 102, L. 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mont. Const. Amend. XII, Voter Information Pamphlet, at p. 6 (1982).

veto to the Legislature with a statement of reasons. Doc. 44. The vetoed bill and the attached veto message were never transmitted to the Secretary of State.

# A. The Governor's veto occurred on the last day of the 68th Legislative Session.

At the time the Governor vetoed Senate Bill 442, the Legislature was still in session. See Doc. 45 at 3; Doc. 46 at 2; Doc. 27. Later in the afternoon, the Senate adjourned sine die after a surprise sine die motion, which precludes debate under the rules. Rules of the Mont. Leg., Sen. R. 50-60 (1). Senate Minority Leader Pat Flowers brought forth a sine die motion around 3:20 p.m. The Senate retained the vetoed bill in its offices, of which it remains today. The House continued to work on legislation into the night, reading SB 442 across the rostrum around 8:39 p.m., declining to vote on the issue, and eventually adjourned sine die at 9:14 p.m., officially ending the 68<sup>th</sup> Legislative Session.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Maddison Seipp, NonStop Local, "Montana Senate claims action made by Montana Supreme Court is unconstitutional on Senate Bill 442,"

https://www.montanarightnow.com/elections/montana-senate-claims-action-made-by-montana-supreme-court-is-unconstitutional-on-senate-bill-442/article b391152a-e578-11ee-b38d-27f5320d13e1.html (March 18, 2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Agenda: Messages from the Governor, House Floor Session, <a href="https://sg001-harmony.sliq.net/00309/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20230502/-1/46180#agenda">harmony.sliq.net/00309/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20230502/-1/46180#agenda</a> (reading Governor's veto message beginning at timestamp 20:39:45).

# B. Interest Groups filed suits against the Governor and Secretary of State

On June 7, 2023, Interest Groups (Wild Montana and Montana Wildlife Federation) filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Application for Writ of Mandate with the Lewis & Clark County First Judicial District Court. Doc. 1.

Additionally, on June 7, 2023, the Montana Association of Counties (MACo) filed a similar complaint seeking declaratory relief. *Montana Association of Counties v. Gianforte, et al.*, DV-25-2023-0000413-DK, Doc. 1. MACo then filed on July 14, 2023, a motion to consolidate the two cases. Doc. 9.

The Interest Groups *Petition* and consolidated case hinged entirely upon the actions taken by the Montana Legislature and the Governor. The question presented by Petitioners related to the effectiveness of a veto during the legislative session that was returned to the Legislature prior to, but on the same day as, the successful motion to adjourn. The Interest Groups sought a writ of mandamus that the Secretary has a duty to poll the Legislature and an order directing the same, or alternatively, a declaratory judgment that the Governor's veto of Senate Bill 442 was "ineffective and remains ineffective unless and until the Governor returns the bill and his veto letter to the Secretary to allow for a poll of the Legislature." Doc. 1 at 16.

# C. Polling, Court Proceedings, and Letters from the Legislature

On June 30, 2023, the Secretary of State's Office concluded the polling process for each of the qualifying vetoed bills received.<sup>8</sup> A few weeks after, on July 14, 2023, the Secretary moved the District Court to dismiss the Interest Groups petition. Doc. 11. A month later, the Governor moved the District Court to dismiss the Interest Groups Petition. Doc. 23. The parties ultimately filed cross motions for Summary Judgment. On October 2, 2023, the Governor filed for Summary Judgment. Doc. 26, 34. In December 2023, the Court held oral argument on the pending motions. Doc 43.

The District Court granted the Interest Groups Motion for Summary Judgment in the form of a Writ of Mandamus. Doc. 45. On the same day, the court denied both the Governor and the Secretary of State's Motion to Dismiss. On February 2, 2024, the Court entered judgment issuing a writ of mandamus directed the "governor must transmit the veto message and the secretary of state must conduct the override poll in the manner established by Article VI, Section 10(4)." Doc. 45. A few days later, the Governor moved to stay the District Court's order pending appeal, followed by a motion from the Interest Groups for attorney fees. Doc 50, 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Montana Secretary of State, "Secretary Christi Jacobsen releases veto polling results," <a href="https://media.sosmt.gov/secretary-christi-jacobsen-releases-veto-polling-results/#:~:text=HELENA,%20Mont.%20%E2%80%94%20Montana%20Secretary%20of%20State%20Christi%20Jacobsen%20released.">https://media.sosmt.gov/secretary-christi-jacobsen-releases-veto-polling-results/#:~:text=HELENA,%20Mont.%20%E2%80%94%20Montana%20Secretary%20of%20State%20Christi%20Jacobsen%20released.</a>

On March 15, 2024, the Montana Supreme Court issued an order denying the Governor's Motion for a stay and ordered that the Governor and the Secretary comply with the Court's writ of mandate, assuring an opportunity in future proceedings. Doc. 59. Pursuant to that Order, on March 18, 2024, the Secretary received a letter from the Governor attaching a copy of his veto message that he sent to the Legislature for Senate Bill 442 noting that he does not have the bill. Letter from Governor Greg Gianforte to Secretary of State Christi Jacobsen (March 18, 2024) ("In keeping with the requirements of the Montana Constitution, I transmitted the attached veto message and the bill, which both the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the Senate signed, to the Legislature while it was in session on May 2, 2023.")

The same day, the Secretary of State received a copy of a letter from the President of the Senate, Senate Pro Tempore, and Majority Leader directed to the District Court and this Court that stated in part the following: "The timing of the Governor's veto and the Minority Leader's successful sine die motion meant that the Legislature had possession of the bill when the session ended. The Senate remains in possession to this day." The letter further read that "We do not believe the Executive Branch has the authority to conduct an action on a bill that is in the Legislature's possession and that was vetoed when the Legislature was in session based on Article VI Section 10(4)(a)." Letter from Senator Jason Ellsworth to the Justices of the Montana Supreme Court and Judge Mike Menahan (March 18, 2024).

On March 19, 2024, pursuant to the writ and under the threat of contempt, the Secretary expended staff time and resources to conduct an expedited veto override poll without the ordinarily required information. The veto override poll failed.<sup>9</sup>

On July 9, 2024, the District Court denied the Interest Groups motion for attorney fees. Doc. 73. The Court noted the present matter required the Court to address a novel legal issue. All parties acknowledge the question at issue was a matter of first impression. *Id.*, Trans. P. 10 ("And so in other cases where there's a clear legal duty in a mandamus case, I can understand attorney fees. But in this case...everybody agrees is a case of first impression...); Doc. 73 at 4 ("Specifically, Petitioners and Plaintiff asked the Court to determine the proper procedure for facilitating a legislative poll to override a governor's veto in circumstances under which the Montana Constitution does not anticipate.").

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's decision on whether to grant a writ of mandamus is a legal conclusion the supreme court review for correctness. *Allied Waste Servs. of N. Am.*, *LLC v. Mont. Dep't of Pub. Serv.* Regulation, 2019 MT 199, ¶ 12, 397 Mont. 85, 447 P.3d 463 (citing *Boehm v. Park Cty.*, 2018 MT 165, ¶ 7, 392 Mont. 72, 421 P.3d 789). Justiciability is a legal question subject to de novo review. *City of Great Falls v. Bd. of* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Veto Polling Results - Official Montana Secretary of State Website - Christi Jacobsen (sosmt.gov) <a href="https://sosmt.gov/elections/veto-polling-results/">https://sosmt.gov/elections/veto-polling-results/</a>.

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