IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA  
No. DA 24-0153

---

WILD MONTANA; MONTANA WILDLIFE FEDERATION; AND MONTANA  
ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES,

*Petitioners/Plaintiff and Appellees,*

v.

GREG GIANFORTE, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS GOVERNOR OF THE STATE  
OF MONTANA; AND CHRISTI JACOBSEN, IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS  
SECRETARY OF STATE,

*Defendants and Appellants.*

---

**APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF**

---

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court  
Lewis & Clark County  
Cause No. DV-25-2023-411  
Honorable Judge Mike Menahan

---

Rylee Sommers-Flanagan  
Dimitrios Tsolakidis  
UPPER SEVEN LAW  
P.O. Box 31  
Helena, MT 59624  
Phone: (406) 998-6067

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The legislature’s vote not to override SB 442 rendered this appeal moot. But if this Court reaches the merits, it should affirm because the Montana Constitution gives the legislature, not the Governor, the last word on whether a bill should become law.

This appeal is moot because the Court cannot grant Appellants the relief they seek, as it cannot unwind compliance with the writ of mandamus or invalidate a law that never took effect. Moreover, the circumstances of SB 442 are unlikely to recur; therefore, no mootness exception applies, and the Court should dismiss this appeal without reaching Appellants’ arguments.

If the Court proceeds, however, to review the District Court’s order, it should affirm. The District Court correctly ruled that Appellees’ claim is justiciable. Appellants’ failure to act threatened to cause Appellees economic and organizational harm and prevented them from seeing SB 442 through to the end of the legislative process. The override vote redressed in part Appellees’ harm because it allowed them to participate

in the constitutionally required legislative process, and it made redress of their economic and organizational injuries possible. Appellees' claim did not implicate the political question doctrine because the veto provision is self-executing and does not commit the interpretation of post-session override procedures to a coordinate branch.

Finally, on the merits, the District Court's ruling was true to the veto provision and consistent with the delegates' intent. Should the Court reach Appellants' arguments, it should affirm.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. This appeal is moot because the Court cannot offer Appellants effective relief.**

This appeal is moot because the legislature voted not to override the Governor's veto of SB 442, and the Court cannot undo the override poll. Effective relief is unavailable because a reversal will change nothing. Thus, there is no live controversy. Appellants seek only an advisory opinion: what law would apply to a future set of hypothetical facts? Because no mootness exception applies, the Court should dismiss this appeal without reaching Appellants' arguments.

Mootness is a threshold question of justiciability. *Griffith v. Butte Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 2010 MT 246, ¶ 23, 358 Mont. 193, 244 P.3d 321.

“Mootness is the doctrine of standing set in a time frame: the requisite personal interest that must exist at the commencement of the litigation (standing) must continue throughout its existence (mootness).” *Progressive Direct Ins. Co. v. Stuiivenga*, 2012 MT 75, ¶ 17, 364 Mont. 390, 276 P.3d 867. “This Court has described a moot question as one which existed once but because of an event or happening, it has ceased to exist and no longer presents an actual controversy.” *Id.* ¶ 28 (cleaned up).

The issue presented below has ceased to exist. This appeal is moot because an intervening event—the failed override poll—prevents the Court from granting effective relief, and no mootness exception applies.

**A. The legislature’s decision not to override the veto is an intervening event or change in circumstances that prevents the Court from granting effective relief to Appellants.**

“[I]f the issue presented at the outset of the action has ceased to exist or is no longer ‘live,’ or if the court is unable due to an intervening event or change in circumstances to grant effective relief . . . then the issue before the court is moot.” *Stuiivenga*, ¶ 17 (collecting cases). Of course, “compliance with [a] judgment, whether voluntary or involuntary, does not necessarily” moot an appeal. *Id.* ¶ 43. The question, rather, “is whether th[e] Court can grant effective relief, which will depend on the

specific factual and procedural circumstances of the particular case and the relief sought by the appellant.” *Id.*; see also *Sudan Drilling, Inc.*, ¶ 11. “[W]hen a party complies with a judgment to such an extent that effective relief by an appellate court is impossible, that party’s appeal is moot.” *In re Marriage of Nevin*, 284 Mont. 468, 471–72, 945 P.2d 58, 61 (1997) (compliance with contempt order rendered appeal moot).

Nothing about appeals from writs of mandamus exempt them from the general rule. See *Stuivenga*, ¶¶ 26–37 (retracing history of mandamus appeals); see also, e.g., *Johnson v. Rosenbeck*, 141 Mont. 72, 74–75, 375 P.2d 221, 222–23 (1962) (appeal was moot where defendant’s compliance with writ of mandamus was irreversible); *State ex rel. Hagerty v. Rafn*, 130 Mont. 554, 557–58, 304 P.2d 918, 920 (1956) (a reversal would be “without effect,” regardless whether compliance with the writ was voluntary or involuntary); *State v. Tyler*, 64 Mont. 124, 208 P. 1081 (1922); *State ex rel. Brass v. Horn*, 36 Mont. 418, 93 P. 351 (1908); *State ex rel. Begeman v. Napton*, 10 Mont. 369, 25 P. 1045 (1891). Cf. *In re Marriage of Nevin*, 284 Mont. at 471–72, 945 P.2d at 61 (appeal from contempt order); *Adkins v. City of Livingston*, 121 Mont. 528, 194 P.2d 238 (1948) (injunction); *State v. Beadle*, 90 Mont. 24, 300 P. 197 (1931)

(prohibitory writ).

*Begeman* is the “foundational precedent” on when an appeal from a writ of mandamus becomes moot. *Stuivenga*, ¶ 26 (citing *Begeman*, 10 Mont. 369, 25 P. at 1046). There, a juror sought a writ of mandamus requiring the clerk of court to issue him a certificate of mileage and attendance as a trial juror. *Begeman*, 10 Mont. 369, 25 P. at 1046. The court granted the writ, and the clerk appealed. *Id.* After appealing, however, the clerk complied with the writ and issued the certificate. *Id.* The Court dismissed the appeal as moot, stating:

A judgment of any kind from this court would present a peculiar result. An affirmance would be to direct the district court to issue a writ, which that court has already issued, and which has been obeyed. A reversal would be to say to the lower court: “You may not order the clerk to do that which he has already fully performed.” It is apparent that there is no controversy before us. The case is fictitious.

*Id.*

Similarly, in *Brass*, a district court issued a writ of mandamus ordering the defendant to transfer a detainee. 36 Mont. 418, 93 P. at 352. On the same day that he appealed the writ, the defendant complied. *Id.* This Court dismissed the appeal as moot, stating, “the only purpose sought by the appeal is to have this court decide the moot question

whether the statutes defining the jurisdiction of police and justice of the peace courts authorize a change of venue.” *Id.*

The Court reached a different but consistent result in *State ex rel. Kurth v. Grinde*, 96 Mont. 608, 32 P.2d 15 (1934). There, the district court mandated that Kurth be reinstated as the Great Falls water registrar. *Id.*, 32 P.2d at 15–16. The defendant, the water registrar at the time, complied with the writ and filed an appeal to this Court. *Id.* Although the defendant complied with the writ, the Court proceeded to the merits because determining who held proper title to the water registrar position—Kurth or the defendant—remained a live controversy, and the Court could fashion some relief to the defendant by resolving that question. *Id.*, 32 P.2d at 16.

Here, there are no legal rights left to resolve. Appellants seek a reversal of the District Court’s order, but such relief is wholly theoretical because the Court “cannot undo that which has been done,” and “[n]othing would be achieved if [the Court] were to reverse the trial court.” *Beadle*, 90 Mont. 24, 300 P. at 198. All that remains is for the Court to “decide the moot question” of whether the veto provision required Appellants to facilitate the post-session override process. *See*

*Brass*, 36 Mont. 418, 93 P. at 352. Appellants want this Court to hold either that they did not need to facilitate the override process or that the court overstepped its authority by filling a procedural gap. *See* Gov.’s Br., at 14–15; Sec.’s Br., at 11–12. But neither holding could reverse the writ of mandamus, undo the legislature’s failed override vote, or have any other effect on the Governor’s veto of SB 442.

The Court’s stay order is of no consequence to the question of mootness because the legislature could have voted to override the veto after the Court denied the stay. *See* Ord., at 4 (“the fate of SB 442 could ultimately go either way”). Had the legislature overridden the veto, the appeal would be justiciable because the Court could render SB 442 ineffective. But the legislature did not override SB 442’s veto. Appellants stand to gain nothing from a reversal, other than favorable precedent for future, hypothetical cases—a quintessential advisory opinion. “The case is fictitious.” *Begeman*, 10 Mont. 369, 25 P. at 1046.

**B. No mootness exception applies because these facts are unlikely to recur.**

A moot case is ineligible for review unless it meets an exception. *Meyer v. Jacobsen*, 2022 MT 93, ¶ 9, 408 Mont. 369, 510 P.3d 52. The Court recognizes several such exceptions, including (1) “public interest”

and (2) “capable of repetition, yet could evade review.” *Id.* The party invoking either exception bears the burden of establishing its elements. *Id.* ¶ 10. Appellants cannot meet their burden to show that either exception applies.

The public interest exception requires proof of three elements: (1) an issue of public importance, (2) that is likely to recur, and (3) that should be answered to guide public officers in the performance of their duties. *Ramon v. Short*, 2020 MT 69, ¶ 21, 399 Mont. 254, 460 P.3d 867. The capable of repetition exception applies only when “(1) the challenged action was in its duration too short to be fully litigated,” and “(2) there was a reasonable expectation the same complaining party would be subjected to the same action.” *Meyer*, ¶ 10.

Both exceptions require a likelihood of recurrence, which Appellants cannot establish. To show that the issue is likely to recur, Appellants “must establish a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party would be subject to the same action in the future.” *Id.* ¶ 16. But there is no such evidence in the record, and Appellants repeatedly describe these facts as unlikely to recur. *See* Gov.’s Br., at 1, 9 (describing the underlying facts as “unusual events”); *id.* at 3 (referring

to the timing of the Governor’s veto as “unusual”); *id.* at 10 (noting that this case presents an “anomaly”); *id.* at 26, 31 (describing the circumstances of the veto as “unique”); Sec.’s Br., at 13 (“this unique situation”). Indeed, the legislators who wrote to this Court last March described SB 442 as a “unique situation.” Mont. House Ltr. to Mont. Supreme Ct. (Mar. 20, 2024); *see also id.* (“Senate Bill 442 has had a very unique ride through the legislature and has landed in a never before addressed circumstance.”).

Further, recurrence is unlikely because, as the Governor posits, the legislature knows of this “procedural anomaly,” Gov.’s Br., at 21, and has means to address it, *id.* (arguing that “the Legislature has the exclusive authority to make rules facilitating those processes”); *id.* at 23 (“The Legislature enacted a statute to fill this gap”); *id.* at 25 (the legislature has the “power to create rules for facilitating the veto process”). Because the issue is unlikely to arise again, there is limited need for this Court’s guidance, and neither exception to mootness applies.

Both exceptions also fail on the other elements. First, the public interest exception requires an answer that will “guide public officers in the performance of their duties.” *Ramon*, ¶ 21. But Appellants seek no

guidance here. Rather, they protest that the Court has no business determining the merits of their constitutional obligations. The Governor spends nearly all of his argument section asking this Court not to address the merits. Gov.'s Br., at 16–38; *see also* Sec.'s Br., at 19–20. Dismissing this appeal without reaching the merits accomplishes what Appellants want: for the legislature—not the Court—to address last-minute veto scenarios. *See* Gov.'s Br., at 38; Sec.'s Br., at 19 (incorporating the Governor's justiciability arguments by reference).

As to the capable of repetition exception, Appellants cannot show that the “challenged conduct . . . invariably ceases before courts fully can adjudicate the matter.” *Zunski v. Frenchtown Rural Fire Dep't Bd. of Trs.*, 2013 MT 258, ¶ 22, 371 Mont. 552, 309 P.3d 21 (emphasis in original). Even if the issue were to recur, not every appeal would become moot. Had the override succeeded, the matter would have been justiciable. And had Appellants sought expedited review, this Court may have resolved the appeal essentially concurrently with the override poll. *See* Doc. 59, at 6 (“The process of conducting the poll takes time. . . . [I]f the poll proceeds concurrently with the appeal process, the entire issue may be resolved at the same time.”). In the unlikely event that the same

situation arises again, there is no reason to think that litigation will be “so short as to evade review.” *See Zunski*, ¶ 22.

Because the appeal is moot and no exception applies, the Court “is required to dismiss the action.” *Moody’s Market, Inc. v. Mont. State Fund*, 2020 MT 217, ¶ 18, 401 Mont. 168, 471 P.3d 68.

**II. The District Court correctly concluded that Appellees’ claims were justiciable.**

If the Court proceeds to review the District Court’s Order, it should hold that Appellees’ claims were justiciable because (1) Appellees satisfied all three elements of constitutional standing and (2) this matter does not present a political question.

**A. Appellees have case-or-controversy standing.**

Case-or-controversy standing requires (1) “a concrete harm that is actual or imminent,” (2) “a fairly traceable connection between the injury and the conduct complained of,” and (3) “a likelihood that the requested relief will redress the alleged injury.” *Barrett v. State*, 2024 MT 86, ¶ 30, 416 Mont. 226, 547 P.3d 630 (emphasis added) (cleaned up). The injury prong is met by a “past, present, or threatened injury to a property or civil right.” *Brown v. Gianforte*, 2021 MT 149, ¶ 10, 404 Mont. 269, 488 P.3d 548. “[P]otential economic harm is sufficient to establish a

threatened injury.” *Reichert v. State ex rel. McCulloch*, 2012 MT 111, ¶ 58, 365 Mont. 92, 278 P.3d 455 (cleaned up). “In a multi-plaintiff case . . . the standing of any one plaintiff is sufficient.” *Barrett*, ¶ 19.

First, Appellees’ injuries were particularized and concrete. Under SB 442, MACo’s members would have received the benefits of increased funding for rural roads—of critical importance to MACo’s members and the elected county officials who serve in MACo’s leadership. Suppl. App. 004. Conservation Organizations and their members faced similar harm in the loss of Habitat Montana funding. App. 019–20, 022–23. Further, Appellees invested significant time and resources toward SB 442’s revision and passage during the session and the override poll. *Id.*; Suppl. App. 003–05. They had a direct stake in the lawmaking process.

The Governor mischaracterizes both Appellees’ injuries and this Court’s holding in *Mitchell v. Glacier County*, 2017 MT 258, 389 Mont. 122, 406 P.3d 427. In *Mitchell*, the Court stated that if a plaintiff’s “injury” arises from an alleged “violation of constitutional and statutory rights,” the constitutional or statutory provision must itself grant a right to judicial relief. *Id.* ¶ 11 (emphasis added). Replacing “injury” with the word “claim,” the Governor argues that Appellees have no standing

unless the veto provision provides a private right of action. Gov.’s Br., at 33. Not so. *See, e.g., Larson v. State ex rel. Stapleton*, 2019 MT 28, ¶ 27, 394 Mont. 167, 434 P.3d 241 (“[T]he Legislature’s failure to expressly specify a private remedy for enforcing a statutory duty or requirement does not necessarily preclude the availability of a private remedy.”). Appellees’ concrete and particularized injuries are not, as the Governor suggests, less cognizable because they arise from unconstitutional action—such a rule would be absurd.

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